UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 94-41232
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
vVer sus
JUNI US CHARLES,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court for the
Western District of Louisiana
(6: 93 CR 60026)

July 7, 1995

Bef ore GARWOOD, HI G3 NBOTHAM and DAVIS, Circuit Judges.”’
GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Def endant - appel l ant Junius Charles (Charles) appeals his
convi ctions and sentence on six counts related to his participation

in a carjacking in Louisiana and the subsequent robbery of a

conveni ence store in Texas. Finding no reversible error, we
affirm
Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions that

have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases on
the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess
expense on the public and burdens on the | egal profession."
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

Charles, WIly Leon Kelly (Kelly), and develand Sereal
(Sereal) (collectively Defendants) net for the first tinme on June
14, 1993, in Lafayette, Louisiana. Kelly told the others that he
had a job possibility in California, and the three agreed to go to
California to find work. To make the trip, they decided to steal
a car. Around 10:00 p.m, Defendants approached a car carrying
five teenagers that had stopped at a traffic light. Kelly put a
gun t hrough t he passenger-si de wi ndow and ordered t he t eenagers out
of the car. Defendants then got in the car and drove away.

Def endants headed for Lake Charles, Louisiana, where Sereal
had sone relatives who, the Defendants hoped, would give them
noney. Havi ng no success in Lake Charles, Defendants travell ed
further west. In Sul phur, Louisiana, they decided to steal
gasoline, food, and noney from a convenience store. Wile Kelly
punped gas, Sereal and Charles went into the conveni ence store,
pi cked up a few itens, and put themon the counter. Sereal then
went back to the car, and Charles pulled a gun on the clerk
ordering her to give himthe noney in the cash register. Wen she
refused, Charles left the store, and Defendants sped away in the
car. The clerk, Cynthia Carr (Carr), wote down the license plate
nunber of the car as it pulled away.

Defendants then travelled into Texas, intending to go to
Houston, but they m ssed the turn and ended up in Dallas. Heading
further west, Defendants stopped in C arendon, Texas, where they

filled the car with gas and then pulled away w thout paying. A



| ocal police officer attenpted to stop the car, and a hi gh-speed
chase ensued. Eventually, Defendants abandoned the car and ran off
on foot. All three turned thenselves in the next norning in Texas
and were returned to Lafayette for trial.

Def endants were charged in a seven-count indictnment. Kelly
and Sereal entered into plea bargains and testified to the events
just described on behalf of the governnent at Charles's trial. 1In
addition, the governnment introduced the testinony of two of
Charles's fellow prisoners at the Lafayette Correctional Center
Bl ai ne Duhon (Duhon) and Anthony Lane (Lane), who testified that
Charles had told them of his involvenent in the various charged
of fenses. Kelly and Sereal affirned that Charles had been present
and had participated in the crinmes, and Duhon and Lane testified
that Charles had admtted this to them Al t hough none of the
victins had been able to identify Charles in pretrial photographic
line-ups, at trial, Carr (the Sul phur conveni ence store clerk)
positively identified Charles as the man who hel d her at gunpoint.
In addition, two of the teenagers who had been riding in the car
Def endants stole identified Charles as the person who had held the
gun on them?! although this testinony contradicted that of Kelly
and Sereal, who averred that Kelly was the one who used the gun
during the Lafayette carj acking.

The jury found Charles guilty on one count of carjacking, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2119 (count |); two counts of possession

. One of the teenagers positively identified Charles; the
other could only tentatively testify that Charles was the gunman
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of afirearminrelationto a crinme of violence, in violation of 18
US C 8 924(c)(1) (counts Il and IV); one count of conspiracy to
interfere wwth commerce by robbery, in violation of 18 U S. C §
1951 (count 1I11); one count of possession of a firearm by a
convicted felon, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8 922(g)(1) (count VI);
and one count of interstate transportation of a stolen notor
vehicle, in violation of 18 U S C § 2312 (count VII).2 The
district court sentenced Charles to a total of 108 nonths
(concurrent) in prison on counts I, Ill, VI, and VIl, a consecutive
5-year mandatory term of inprisonnment on count |1, and a further
consecutive 20-year mandatory termof inprisonnent on count |V; the
district court also inposed a 3-year term of supervised rel ease.

In this tinely appeal, Charles argues that his conviction was
founded on perjured testinony and that the district court erred in
denyi ng hi man evidentiary hearing to establish that the governnent
knew of the alleged perjury. He further clains that the district
court abused its discretion in denying his notion for a mstrial
based on certain witnesses' violation of the witness sequestration
or der. Finally, he contends that the district court inproperly
i nposed the twenty-year mandatory termas to count |V because count
|V could not be a "second or subsequent conviction" sufficient to
i nvoke the mandatory term

Di scussi on

Perjured Testi nony

2 Charl es was charged in only six of the seven counts. Count
V charged Sereal with possession of a firearmby a convicted
felon, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 922(g)(1).
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At trial, the FBI agent who testified for the governnent
admtted that none of the victins had been able to positively
identify Charles in pretrial photographic Iine-ups. Nevertheless,
at trial, Carr and two of the teenagers identified Charles as the
gunman in their respective crines. Charl es contends that this
di screpancy in the witnesses' identification of hi mwas perjurious.
"[ T] he knowi ng use by the prosecution of fal se evidence or perjured
testinony which is material to the issues in acrimnal trial is a
deni al of due process.” United States v. Anderson, 574 F.2d 1347,
1355 (5th Gr. 1978) (footnotes omtted). To obtain a reversal of
a conviction based on allegedly perjured testinony, the defendant
must prove that the contested statenents were actually fal se, that
they were material, and that the prosecution knew of the falsity.
United States v. Bl ackburn, 9 F.3d 353, 357 (5th Gr. 1993), cert.
denied, 115 S.C. 102 (1994). Charles has satisfied none of these
el ement s.

The nere i nconsi stency between awitness's trial testinony and
his prior statenents, or between the testinony of two w tnesses,
does not in itself establish that the testinony is false. Such
i nconsi stencies "can as easily be explained as the result of faulty
recollections or differences of opinions.” United States v.
Washi ngton, 44 F.3d 1271, 1282 (5th Cr. 1995), cert. denied, 63
U S LW 3832 (My 22, 1995) (No. 94-8900). Mor eover, the
governnent itself admtted at trial that none of the w tnesses had
identified Charles prior to trial; on cross-exam nation, Charles's

counsel took full advantage of the opportunity to inpeach the



W tnesses who identified Charles at trial. That the w tnesses
refused to recant their at-trial identifications and that those
identifications were inconsistent wth the wtnesses' prior
inability to positively identify Charles do not establish that
their testinony was actually false.

Nor has Charles shown that the statenents were material. An
all egedly perjured statenent is material only "if its use creates
a reasonable |ikelihood that the jury's verdict m ght have been
different.'" |d. (footnote omtted). Charles admtted, however,
t hat he was present during the wvarious incidents; t he
identification of himas present with Kelly and Sereal when the
crimes were conmmtted was not a seriously disputed elenent in the
governnent's case.® Charles's argunent m ght have nore force, at
| east with respect to the carjacking count, if that charge were in
sone way dependent on his personally having brandi shed t he gun, but
there is nothing to suggest that this is the case.* 1In addition,
even wthout the wtnesses' identifications, the evidence of

Charles's guilt was ot herw se overwhel m ng, so that the statenents,

even if perjurious, "do[] not cast 'serious doubt' upon the
correctness of the jury verdict or the fairness of the trial." Id.
3 Charles's main defense was that he did not agree with Kelly

and Sereal to steal the car or rob the conveni ence store and that
he did not know that the car was stolen or that the others had
and used a gun to commt the crines. Wth respect to this
defense, it was the testinony of Kelly and Sereal, not the
victins, which was pivotal.

4 The indictnment charged Charles, Kelly, and Sereal with
ai ding and abetting one another in the comm ssion of the
carj acki ng.



(footnote and internal quotation marks omtted).

Lastly, there is no evidence indicating that the governnent
actually knew that the wtnesses would identify Charles on the
stand. Even if awtness's statenent is perjurious, "[d]ue process
is not inplicated . . . unless the prosecution actually knows or
believes the testinony to be false or perjured; it is not enough
that the testinony is challenged by another wtness or is
i nconsistent wiwth prior statenents.” United States v. Sutherl and,
656 F.2d 1181, 1203 (5th Cr. 1981), cert. denied, 102 S.C. 1451,
and cert. denied, 102 S. . 1617 (1982) (citation and interna
gquotation marks omtted). Charles points to a |ocal newspaper
article in which the assistant district attorney prosecuting the
case stated, "W didn't expect any of the kids to identify him.

W expect that they'll turn out to have been mstaken."®
Al t hough Charl es bal dly asserts that the prosecution was |yi ng when
it made these statenents, he offers no further proof of this

contention.® Indeed, we think the prosecutor's statenents nore

5 In one of several post-trial notions, Charles asked the
district court to take judicial notice of the prosecutor's
statenents as reflected in the newspaper article. The district
court denied the notion, concluding that the statenents were not
proper subjects for judicial notice.

6 Charles further contends that the district court abused its
discretion in denying his notion for a newtrial, arguing that he
was entitled to an evidentiary hearing to determ ne whether the
governnent knew the allegedly perjurious testinony would be
offered. The decision to grant an evidentiary hearing as part of
a notion for a newtrial rests in the district court's sound

di scretion, Blackburn, 9 F.3d at 358, and we concl ude that

di scretion was not abused here. Charles has his prem ses
backwards; it was his burden in the first instance to put forth
evi dence indicating that the governnent knew in advance that the
w t nesses woul d make the allegedly perjurious statenents. He is
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consistent with the theory that the governnent did not know that
the witnesses would identify Charles, a conclusion that is further
buttressed by the fact that the governnent itself admtted that the
W t nesses had not identified Charles in pretrial |ine-ups.

W reject Charles's contention that his conviction violated
due process.
1. Violation of the Wtness Sequestration O der.

Pursuant to Fed. R Evid. 615, the district court ordered the
W t nesses sequestered during trial. Counsel for Charles |earned
that Kelly, Sereal, Lane, and Duhon had nevertheless talked with
one another prior to testifying. During his cross-exam nation of
Duhon, defense counsel asked Duhon, in the jury's presence, what
the four wtnesses had been discussing. The follow ng transpired:

"Q [by defense counsel]: What specifically was said
bet ween you two?

A [by Duhon]: Between who?

Q M. Kelly and yourself, the conversation?

A There's four of you back there. W all talking at
once. | nean, |I'mnot asking himif he's going fishing
tonorrow or nothing like that. But what you want ne to
say to you?

Q Did you discuss this case wwth himat all?

A He was tal king about why they even taking this to
trial, why Charles don't take a plea bargain.

Q Anyt hi ng el se?
A That's about it.
Q

Did you have a conversation wth M. Sereal

not entitled to an evidentiary hearing to nerely fish for support
for his otherw se basel ess all egati ons.
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Cl evel and Sereal ?
A Yes, | did.

Q And what was di scusssed between you two?

A It's not just between ne and him [It's between all
of us.
Q VWell, can you el aborate and be nore specific what

was di scussed?

A He's saying the sane thing, stupid to take it to
trial.

Q Who said that?
Ser eal .

Stupid to take it to trial?

> Q >

Because he's going to | ose.
We'l|l see about that."

Later, out of the jury's presence, defense counsel requested
a mstrial. The district court denied the notion, finding that
defense counsel had invited the statenent, but it then strongly
cautioned the jury to disregard the statenent. Later, during his
cross-exam nation of Lane, defense counsel asked him out of the
jury's presence, what he had discussed with Kelly. Lane stated
that Kelly "told nme that he tried to get Charles to take his rap
because he was in so nuch trouble,” but that Lane told Kelly " " I'm
not goi ng by what you're saying.'"

The rul e providing for sequestration of witnesses is designed
"to aid in detecting testinony that is tailored to that of other
W tnesses and is less then candid.”" United States v. Wlie, 919
F.2d 969, 976 (5th Gr. 1990). The district court has discretion,
however, to permt a witness who has violated the rule to testify.
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United States v. Lassiter, 819 F.2d 84, 87 (5th Cr. 1987). I n
det er m ni ng whet her an abuse of discretion has occurred, "the focus
i s upon whether the witness's out-of-court conversations concerned
substantive aspects of the trial and whether the court allowed the
defense fully to explore the conversation during cross-
exam nation." Wlie, 919 F.2d at 976. The defendant nust show
both an abuse of discretion and that he suffered "sufficient
prejudice" to warrant reversal. 1d. (citation omtted).

W note initially that Charles does not denonstrate how the
W tnesses' testinony was tailored or was otherwise |ess than
candi d; indeed, Lane's comments seemto denonstrate that he refused
to tailor his story to Kelly's. Wat Charles really seens to be
conpl ai ni ng about, and the statenent on which he based his request
for a mstrial, was Duhon's testinony that the w tnesses thought
Charles was going to lose at trial. Although Charles's chances of
acquittal are arguably a substantive issue, the statenent does not
denonstrate that the witnesses tailored their testinony.

Moreover, Charles has failed to denonstrate sufficient
prejudice to warrant areversal. It was defense counsel's decision
to question Duhon in the jury's presence, thereby opening the door
that allowed Duhon to nake the arguably damaging statenent.
Moreover, the district court carefully instructed the jury to
disregard the statenent; we presune that juries follow the
instructions they are given. United States v. WIllis, 6 F.3d 257,
263 (5th Gr. 1993). W are unable to conclude that the district

court abused its discretion in denying the notion for a mstrial.
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I11. Sentencing

Char | es was convi cted on two counts of possession of a firearm
during a crinme of violence. Count Il was related to the Lafayette
carjacking, and count IV to the Sul phur conveni ence store robbery.
The statute provides,

"Whoever, during and inrelation to any crinme of viol ence

: uses or carries a firearm shall, in addition to

t he puni shnment provi ded for such crine of viol ence . Co

be sentenced to inprisonnment for five years . . . . In

the case of his second or subsequent conviction under

this subsection, such person shall be sentenced to

i nprisonnment for twenty years. " 18 U S.C. 8 924(c)(1).
Charles argues that the district court erred in accepting the
presentence report's (PSR) recommendation to apply the mandatory
enhancenment required by 18 US C 8 924(c)(1) for defendants
convi cted of a "second or subsequent"” violation of the statute. He
clains that the two charges were part of one continuous course of
conduct and that Congress did not intend to classify nultiple
counts of the sane offense as a second conviction for purposes of
sent enci ng.

The Suprenme Court has already squarely rejected this
interpretation of section 924(c)(1). In Deal v. United States, 113
S.C. 1993 (1993), the Court held that "[i]n the context of §
924(c)(1), . . . “conviction' refers to the finding of guilt by a
judge or jury that necessarily precedes the entry of a final
j udgnent of conviction."” 1d. at 1996. Thus, a defendant nmay be
subject to the "second or subsequent conviction" enhancenent even

though the first conviction is part of the sanme indictnment and/or

t he sane course of conduct. See id. at 1997 n.1. This Court has
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al ready determ ned that Deal precludes an argunent that offenses
that are part of a "continuing crimnal spree" cannot be the basis
for the "second or subsequent conviction" enhancenent of this
section. See United States v. Gary, No. 94-10467 (January 13,
1995) (unpublished) at 6-7. The district court did not err in
i nposi ng the enhancenent.
Concl usi on
For these reasons, the district court's judgnent is

AFFI RVED.
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